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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

UNITED STATES 

 

v. 

 

KENNETH SMUKLER 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

 

 

 

NO.  17-563-02 

 

DuBois, J.              October 26, 2018 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Defendant, Kenneth Smukler, is charged with violations of campaign finance law relating 

to his participation in two separate congressional campaigns, the first occurring in 2012 and the 

second in 2014.  These charges, described more fully in the Superseding Indictment,1 include: 

participation in a conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Count I); causing unlawful 

campaign contributions in violation of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), 30116(f), and 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2 (Counts II & VII); causing false campaign reports in violation of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30104(a)(1), 

30104(b)(5)(A), 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), and of 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Counts III, IV & X); causing false 

statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2 and 1001(a)(1) (Count V & VI); making contributions 

in the name of another in violation of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109(d)(1), 30116(f), 30122, and 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2 (Counts VIII & IX); and obstruction of a pending agency proceeding in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 2 and 1505 (Count XI). 

Pending before the Court is Government’s Motion in Limine to Exclude Improper 

Character Evidence and Improper Argument.  For the reasons that follow, the motion is granted 

in part and deferred in part.  

                                                 
1 On October 24, 2017, a federal grand jury in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania named defendant Kenneth 

Smukler and co-defendant Donald “D.A.” Jones in a six count Indictment charging violations of the Federal 

Election Campaign Act (“FECA”).  On March 20, 2018, the Government filed a Superseding Indictment charging 

additional violations of FECA.   
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II. BACKGROUND 

The charges in the Superseding Indictment relate to defendant’s work with: (1) the 2012 

congressional primary campaign of United States Representative Robert Brady and (2) the 2014 

congressional primary campaign of Marjorie Margolies.  With respect to the Brady campaign, 

the government charges that defendant and his co-conspirators facilitated unlawful payments 

totaling $90,000 to induce Jimmie Moore—Brady’s primary challenger—to drop out of the 

primary race.  In connection with the Margolies campaign, defendant is charged with facilitating 

unlawful campaign contributions through two political consulting entities which he owned and 

disguising those unlawful contributions as refunds of general election contributions.2   

 In the present motion, the government requests that the Court exclude evidence related to 

the defendant’s character, good acts, and prior legal conduct, in addition to any arguments or 

evidence related to jury nullification or vindictive prosecution.  Defendant filed a response to the 

government’s motion on October 22, 2018.  The motion is thus ripe for review.   

III. APPLICABLE LAW 

The Court has discretion to rule on evidentiary issues in limine to ensure that the jury is 

not exposed to confusing, irrelevant, or unfairly prejudicial evidence.  Frintner v. TruePosition, 

892 F. Supp. 2d 699, 707 (E.D. Pa. 2012) (citing In re Japanese Elec. Prods. Antitrust Litig., 723 

F.2d 238, 260 (3d Cir. 1983), rev’d on other grounds sub nom., Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. 

Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574 (1986)).  Ruling in limine can serve the interests of efficiency; 

however, where the “context of trial would provide clarity, the Court may defer the issues until 

trial.”  Fritner, 892 F. Supp. 2d at 707.   

 

                                                 
2 The Court summarized the charges and the facts at length in its Memorandum dated July 13, 2018.  It will do so in 

this Memorandum only as necessary to explain its rulings.     
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IV. DISCUSSION 

The government’s motion asks that the Court exclude from trial (1) certain types of 

character evidence, such as character evidence showing prior good acts; (2) arguments regarding 

jury nullification; and (3) evidence or arguments related to vindictive prosecution.  Gov. Mot in 

Lim. 1.  Defendant’s response focuses solely on vindictive prosecution, omitting any substantive 

response to the government’s arguments regarding character evidence and jury nullification.  

Def. Resp. to Mot. in Lim.  The Court will address each issue in turn. 

a. Improper Character Evidence 

The government seeks to exclude three types of character evidence: (1) evidence of a 

character trait, other than evidence as to defendant’s law abidingness or honesty, (2) any prior 

acts that highlight or illustrate the defendant’s character, and (3) other occasions on which the 

defendant acted lawfully.  Gov. Mot. in Lim. 1.  In particular, the government is concerned that 

defendant may present evidence showing that the defendant adhered to campaign finance laws 

on other occasions. Gov. Mot. in Lim. 2.   

Although evidence of a person’s character or character trait is not admissible “to prove 

that on a particular occasion the person acted in accordance with the character or trait,” in a 

criminal case, a defendant may offer evidence of a “pertinent trait.”  Fed. R. Evid. 404(a)(1)-

(a)(2)(A).  ”The word ‘pertinent’ is read as synonymous with ‘relevant.’” United States v. 

Angelini, 678 F.2d 380, 381 (1st Cir. 1982) (citing United States v. Staggs, 553 F.2d 1073, 1075 

(7th Cir. 1977); 22 Wright & Graham, Federal Practice and Procedure: Evidence s 5236, at 383 

(1978)); see also United States v. Manfredi, No. 07-352, 2009 WL 3762966, at *2 (W.D. Pa. 

Nov. 9, 2009).  Therefore, the question is whether the character trait in question has any 

tendency to make a material fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.  
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Fed. R. Evid. 401.  When such evidence is admissible, Federal Rule of Evidence 405 allows 

criminal defendants to introduce character evidence by reputation or opinion testimony.  Fed. R. 

Evid. 405(a).  However, a person’s character or character trait can only be shown by “specific 

instances of conduct” where that trait is an essential element of a charge.  Fed. R. Evid. 405(b).   

As an initial matter, the government briefly argues that the Court should limit the 

“pertinent” character traits, admissible under Rule 404(a) in this case, to honesty and law-

abidingness.  Gov. Mot. in Lim. 2.  The defendant has not responded to this argument.  Under 

these circumstances the Court defers ruling on what character traits the defendant may introduce 

as pertinent.   

The government’s second and third requests, regarding prior acts that highlight the 

defendant’s character and prior acts of lawful behavior, seek to prohibit essentially the same type 

of character evidence and can be addressed jointly.  Id. at 1.   The Court agrees with the 

government that the defendant cannot, for the purpose of showing that he acted legally during the 

2012 and 2014 campaigns, introduce specific instances of conduct in which he engaged in good 

deeds or lawful behavior that are irrelevant to the charges.  Such information would neither be 

relevant under Rule 401 nor admissible under Rules 404 and 405.  See United States v. Hayes, 

219 F. App’x 114, 116 (3d Cir. 2007) (explaining that propensity evidence prohibited by Rule 

404(b) can be extended to limit a defendant’s use of prior good acts as exculpatory evidence).  

However, “as is true with bad act evidence, evidence of good acts is also admissible for a proper 

purpose such as motive, intent, absence of mistake, etc.”  Id.  In this case the defendant has not 

sought the admission of any “good acts” evidence or provided a purpose for any such evidence.  

Based on these circumstances, the Court defers ruling on this issue.    
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The Court thus defers ruling on that part of the government’s motion seeking to 

exclude evidence of defendant’s character, prior acts, and lawful conduct.   

b. Jury Nullification 

The government’s motion in limine also asks the Court to exclude any evidence or 

argument in support of jury nullification. The defendant does not respond to this part of the 

government’s motion.   

The Third Circuit has stated that jury nullification “violates [a juror’s] sworn oath and 

prevents the jury from fulfilling is constitutional role.”  United States v. Boone, 458 F.3d 321 (3d 

Cir. 2006); see also United States v. Kemp, 500 F.3d 257, 304 (3d Cir. 2007) (holding that 

district courts may discharge a juror for jury nullification).  Based on the Third Circuit’s 

treatment of jury nullification, courts have granted motions seeking to prohibit jury arguments 

related to jury nullification.  See United States v. Leadbeater, No. 13-121-1, 2015 WL 567025, at 

*7 (D.N.J. Feb. 10, 2015).   

Therefore, in keeping with the cases cited above, the Court grants the government’s 

motion insofar as it seeks to preclude defendant from presenting evidence or argument solely 

relevant to jury nullification.  This ruling does not, however, limit defendant’s ability to 

introduce evidence that is otherwise relevant to the charges in the case.   

c. Vindictive Prosecution 

As a final matter, the government argues that evidence or argument relating to 

defendant’s claim of vindictive prosecution must be excluded.  The vindictive prosecution claim 

is based on defendant’s assertions that “the government began an investigation and . . . indicted 

him in retaliation for his criticism of state and federal prosecutors in articles that he wrote for his 

newspaper the Liberty City Press.”  Def. Resp. to Mot. in Lim. 1.  In particular, defendant seeks 
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to argue that “government’s decision not to prosecute Robert Brady or Marjorie Margolies, is an 

indication of the retaliatory prosecution, and is an indication of his innocence.”  Id.  The Court 

addressed this issue at length in its July 13, 2018, Memorandum and Order denying Defendant’s 

Motion to Dismiss the Indictment for Vindictive Prosecution.  After briefing and a hearing on the 

matter, the Court concluded that defendant failed to show that the “circumstances of his 

indictment reveal a realistic likelihood of vindictiveness to warrant a presumption of 

vindictiveness.”  July 13, 2018, Memorandum and Order 17.  In spite of that ruling, defendant 

reiterates at length the arguments made in his prior motion to dismiss, this time asserting that 

such evidence must be presented to the jury.  His argument, however, is contradicted by Third 

Circuit case law. 

The Third Circuit has held that “a claim of vindictive prosecution is not permissible 

argument to a jury.” United States v. Dufresne, 58 F. App’x 890, 895 (3d Cir. 2003).  The Circuit 

explained its rationale stating: 

By both tradition and constitutional mandate the jury is given the responsibility of 

determining guilt or innocence according to instructions of law delivered by the 

court. The question of discriminatory prosecution relates not to the guilt or 

innocence of [the defendants], but rather addresses itself to a constitutional defect 

in the institution of the prosecution. Rule 12(b)(2), F.R.Cr.P., provides: “Defenses 

and objections based on defects in the institution of the prosecution ... may be raised 

only by motion before trial.” 

 

Id. (citing United States v. Berrigan, 482 F.2d 171, 174–76 (3d Cir. 1973)). The Court properly 

heard defendant’s arguments of vindictive prosecution by motion before trial and concluded that 

defendant’s circumstances failed to warrant a presumption of vindictiveness.  Defendant cannot 

now present these same arguments to the jury in an attempt to persuade the jurors that the 

prosecution is unfair.  
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 The Court thus grants that part of the government’s motion seeking to exclude evidence 

or argument solely related to defendant’s claim of vindictive prosecution. 

V. CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Government’s Motion in Limine to Exclude 

Improper Character Evidence and Improper Argument is granted in part and deferred in part.  

The Court grants that part of the government’s motion which seeks to prevent defendant from 

presenting evidence or argument solely related to jury nullification and claimed vindictive 

prosecution.  The Court defers ruling on that part of the government’s motion seeking to exclude 

evidence of defendant’s character, prior acts, and lawful conduct. 

  



8 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

UNITED STATES 

 

v. 

 

KENNETH SMUKLER 

CRIMINAL ACTION 

 

 

 

NO.  17-563-02 

 

 

O R D E R 

 

 AND NOW, this 26th day of October, 2018, upon consideration of Government’s 

Motion in Limine to Exclude Improper Character Evidence and Improper Argument (Document 

No. 120, filed October 17, 2018) and Defendant’s Answer to Government’s Motion to Exclude 

Evidence of Vindictive Prosecution and Improper Argument (Document No. 126, filed October 

22, 2018), for the reasons set forth in the accompanying Memorandum, dated October 26, 2018, 

IT IS ORDERED that Government’s Motion in Limine to Exclude Improper Character 

Evidence and Improper Argument is GRANTED IN PART AND DEFERRED IN PART, as 

follows:  

1. That part of the government’s motion which seeks to exclude evidence of defendant’s 

character, prior acts, and prior lawful conduct is DEFERRED.3  

2. That part of the government’s motion which seeks to prohibit the defendant from 

presenting evidence or argument related solely to jury nullification is GRANTED. 

3. That part of the government’s motion which seeks to prohibit the defendant from 

presenting evidence or argument related solely to vindictive prosecution is GRANTED. 

 

                                                 
3 The Court will address these issues at the Final Pretrial Conference Scheduled for November 5, 

2018. 



9 

 

 

 

4. The rulings in this Memorandum and Order are WITHOUT PREJUDICE to the right of 

the parties to seek reconsideration at trial if warranted by the evidence and the law as 

stated in the attached Memorandum. 

 

       BY THE COURT: 

 

       /s/ Hon. Jan E. DuBois 

            

            DuBOIS, JAN E., J. 

 

 


